FILED WITH PERMISSION

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

PEOPLE OF THE STATE) No. S270723
OF CALIFORNIA,)
) (Fourth Dist., Div. 3,
Plaintiff and Respondent,) No. G059251)
)
V.) (Orange County Superior
) Court No. 04CF2780)
ANDRES QUINONEZ REYES,)
)
Defendant and Appellant.)
	`

Appeal from the Superior Court of Orange County Hon. Richard M. King, Judge

)

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Richard A. Levy (SBN 126824) 3868 W. Carson St., Suite 205 Torrance, CA 90503-6706 (310) 944-3311 RLevy@RichardALevy.com

Attorney for Andres Reyes

Tał	ble of Authorities
Iss	ues presented 10
ST	ATEMENT OF THE CASE11
I.	Procedural history11
	A. Underlying criminal conviction11

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Change = City of Log Angelog (2010) 47 Col 4th 070 5C
<u>Chavez v. City of Los Angeles</u> (2010) 47 Cal.4th 970
Christiansburg Garment Co. v. Equal Employment Opportunity
$\underbrace{\text{Comm.}}_{\text{Comm.}} (1978) 434 \text{ U.S. } 412$
<u>Cole v. Sullivan</u> (2020) 480 F.Supp.3d 1089
F <u>uller v. Anderson</u> (6th Cir. 1981) 662 F.2d 420
<u>In re Daniel C.</u> (2011) 195 Cal.App.4th 1350
<u>In re Estrada</u> (1965) 63 Cal.2d 740
<u>In re I.C.</u> (2018) 4 Cal.5th 869
<u>In re Jose O.</u> (2014) 232 Cal.App.4th 128
<u>In re Moore</u> (2021) 68 Cal.App.5th 434
<u>In re Scoggins</u> (2020) 9 Cal.5th 667
<u>In re Taylor</u> (2019) 34 Cal.App.5th 543
<u>In re Wing Y.</u> (1977) 67 Cal.App.3d 69 46
Kennedy v. Lockyer (9th Cir. 2004) 379 F.3d 1041
<u>Mitchell v. Prunty</u> (9th Cir. 1997) 107 F.3d 1337
<u>People v. Barboza</u> (2021) 68 Cal.App.5th 955 85
<u>People v. Butler</u> (2010) 187 Cal.App.4th 998 32
<u>People v. Calderon</u> (2005) 129 Cal.App.4th 1301 30
<u>People v. Centers</u> (1999) 73 Cal.App.4th 84
<u>People v. Cleaves</u> (1991) 229 Cal.App.3d 367 32
People v. Contreras (1994) 26 Cal.App.4th 944 31, 76
<u>People v. Cortez</u> (1998) 18 Cal.4th 1223
People v. Cravens (2012) 53 Cal.4th 50029, 30, 63, 65, 66, 75, 86
<u>People v. Cunningham</u> (2001) 25 Cal.4th 926
<u>People v. Dellinger</u> (1989) 49 Cal.3d 1212 60
People v. Dennis (2020) 47 Cal.App.5th 838 42, 43
<u>People v. Duff</u> (2014) 58 Cal.4th 527
<u>People v. Flores</u> (2019) 38 Cal.App.5th 617
<u>People v. Garcia</u> (2020) 46 Cal.App.5th 123
<u>People v. Garcia</u> (2020) 57 Cal.App.5th 100
People v. Gentile (2020) 10 Cal.5th 830 30, 81, 86, 88, 89
People v. Green (1965) 234 Cal.App.2d Supp. 871
<u>People v. Greenberger</u> (1997) 58 Cal.App.4th 298 33
People v. Guillen (2014) 227 Cal.App.4th 934 48, 63, 75
People v. Hall (1964) 62 Cal.2d 104
<u>People v. Harris</u> (2021) 60 Cal.App.5th 939
People v. Hill (1946) 77 Cal.App.2d 287
<u>People v. Huynh</u> (2021) 65 Cal.App.5th 969

$\begin{array}{c} \hline Product V Derived Variability of the term of term$	People v. James (1998) 62 Cal.App.4th 244
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	-
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	-
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	People v. Palomar (2020) 44 Cal.App.5th 969
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	<u>People v. Pedroza</u> (2014) 231 Cal.App.4th 635
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	People v. Powell (2021) 63 Cal.App.5th 689
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	<u>People v. Prettyman</u> (1996) 14 Cal.4th 248
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	People v. Ramirez (2021) 71 Cal.App.5th 970 [2021 WL 5458105]
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	
$\begin{array}{l} \underline{People v. Reyes} \ (August 4, 2021, No. G059251) \ [nonpub. opn.] \\ 2021 WL 3394935 14, 40, 56, 61, 67 \\ \underline{People v. Rivera} \ (2015) \ 234 \ Cal. App. 4th \ 1350 85 \\ \underline{People v. Rivera} \ (2021) \ 62 \ Cal. App. 5th \ 217 87 \\ \underline{People v. Robinson} \ (1964) \ 61 \ Cal. 2d \ 373 47 \\ \underline{People v. Rodriguez} \ (2018) \ 4 \ Cal. 5th \ 1123 47 \\ \underline{People v. Rodriguez} \ (2005) \ 35 \ Cal. 4th \ 1031 27 \\ \underline{People v. Sanchez} \ (1997) \ 58 \ Cal. App. 4th \ 1435 47 \\ \underline{People v. Sanchez} \ (1997) \ 58 \ Cal. App. 4th \ 1435 47 \\ \underline{People v. Sanchez} \ (1997) \ 58 \ Cal. App. 5th \ 84 37 \\ \underline{People v. Soriano} \ (2021) \ 65 \ Cal. App. 5th \ 278 37, \ 44 \\ \underline{People v. Southack} \ (1952) \ 39 \ Cal. 2d \ 578 40 \\ \underline{People v. Superior \ Court} \ (Lara) \ (2018) \ 4 \ Cal. 5th \ 299 27 \\ \underline{People v. Swain} \ (1996) \ 12 \ Cal. 4th \ 593 85 \\ \underline{People v. Swain} \ (1961) \ 189 \ Cal. App. 2d \ 490 64 \end{array}$	
$\begin{array}{c} 2021 \ \text{WL} \ 3394935 \dots 14, \ 40, \ 56, \ 61, \ 67\\ \hline People v. \ Rivera \ (2015) \ 234 \ Cal. \ App. \ 4th \ 1350 \dots 85\\ \hline People v. \ Rivera \ (2021) \ 62 \ Cal. \ App. \ 5th \ 217 \dots 87\\ \hline People v. \ Robinson \ (1964) \ 61 \ Cal. \ 2d \ 373 \dots 47\\ \hline People v. \ Rodriguez \ (2018) \ 4 \ Cal. \ 5th \ 1123 \dots 47\\ \hline People v. \ Rodriguez \ (2018) \ 4 \ Cal. \ 5th \ 1123 \dots 47\\ \hline People v. \ Sanchez \ (1997) \ 58 \ Cal. \ \ App. \ 5th \ 1435 \dots 47\\ \hline People v. \ Sanchez \ (1997) \ 58 \ Cal. \ \ App. \ 5th \ 1435 \dots 47\\ \hline People v. \ Sanchez \ (1997) \ 58 \ Cal. \ \ App. \ 5th \ 84 \dots 37\\ \hline People v. \ Sanchez \ (1997) \ 58 \ Cal. \ \ App. \ 5th \ 84 \dots 37\\ \hline People v. \ Sanchez \ (1997) \ 58 \ Cal. \ \ App. \ 5th \ 84 \dots 37\\ \hline People v. \ \ Sanchez \ (1997) \ 58 \ Cal. \ \ App. \ 5th \ 84 \dots 37\\ \hline People v. \ \ Soriano \ (2021) \ 65 \ Cal. \ \ App. \ 5th \ 278 \dots 37, \ 44\\ \hline People v. \ \ Southack \ (1952) \ 39 \ Cal. \ \ 278 \dots 37, \ 44\\ \hline People v. \ \ Southack \ \ (1952) \ 39 \ Cal. \ \ 278 \dots 37\\ \hline People v. \ \ Superior \ \ Court \ \ \ (Lara) \ \ (2018) \ 4 \ \ \ Cal. \ 5th \ 299 \dots \ 27\\ \hline People v. \ \ Swain \ \ (1996) \ 12 \ \ \ Cal. \ \ App. \ \ 2490 \dots \ 64\\ \hline \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ $	2007 WL 2372617 12
$\begin{array}{c} 2021 \ \text{WL} \ 3394935 \dots 14, \ 40, \ 56, \ 61, \ 67\\ \hline People v. \ Rivera \ (2015) \ 234 \ Cal. \ App. \ 4th \ 1350 \dots 85\\ \hline People v. \ Rivera \ (2021) \ 62 \ Cal. \ App. \ 5th \ 217 \dots 87\\ \hline People v. \ Robinson \ (1964) \ 61 \ Cal. \ 2d \ 373 \dots 47\\ \hline People v. \ Rodriguez \ (2018) \ 4 \ Cal. \ 5th \ 1123 \dots 47\\ \hline People v. \ Rodriguez \ (2018) \ 4 \ Cal. \ 5th \ 1123 \dots 47\\ \hline People v. \ Sanchez \ (1997) \ 58 \ Cal. \ \ App. \ 5th \ 1435 \dots 47\\ \hline People v. \ Sanchez \ (1997) \ 58 \ Cal. \ \ App. \ 5th \ 1435 \dots 47\\ \hline People v. \ Sanchez \ (1997) \ 58 \ Cal. \ \ App. \ 5th \ 84 \dots 37\\ \hline People v. \ Sanchez \ (1997) \ 58 \ Cal. \ \ App. \ 5th \ 84 \dots 37\\ \hline People v. \ Sanchez \ (1997) \ 58 \ Cal. \ \ App. \ 5th \ 84 \dots 37\\ \hline People v. \ \ Sanchez \ (1997) \ 58 \ Cal. \ \ App. \ 5th \ 84 \dots 37\\ \hline People v. \ \ Soriano \ (2021) \ 65 \ Cal. \ \ App. \ 5th \ 278 \dots 37, \ 44\\ \hline People v. \ \ Southack \ (1952) \ 39 \ Cal. \ \ 278 \dots 37, \ 44\\ \hline People v. \ \ Southack \ \ (1952) \ 39 \ Cal. \ \ 278 \dots 37\\ \hline People v. \ \ Superior \ \ Court \ \ \ (Lara) \ \ (2018) \ 4 \ \ \ Cal. \ 5th \ 299 \dots \ 27\\ \hline People v. \ \ Swain \ \ (1996) \ 12 \ \ \ Cal. \ \ App. \ \ 2490 \dots \ 64\\ \hline \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ $	People v. Reyes (August 4, 2021, No. G059251) [nonpub. opn.]
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	2021 WL 3394935 14, 40, 56, 61, 67
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	
$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	<u>People v. Robinson</u> (1964) 61 Cal.2d 373 47
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	
People v. Sanford (2017) 11 Cal.App.5th 84 37 People v. Soriano (2021) 65 Cal.App.5th 278 37, 44 People v. Southack (1952) 39 Cal.2d 578 40 People v. Stankewitz (1990) 51 Cal.3d 72 80 People v. Superior Court (Lara) (2018) 4 Cal.5th 299 27 People v. Swain (1996) 12 Cal.4th 593 85 People v. Taylor (1961) 189 Cal.App.2d 490 64	
People v. Soriano (2021) 65 Cal.App.5th 278 37, 44 People v. Southack (1952) 39 Cal.2d 578 40 People v. Stankewitz (1990) 51 Cal.3d 72 80 People v. Superior Court (Lara) (2018) 4 Cal.5th 299 27 People v. Swain (1996) 12 Cal.4th 593 85 People v. Taylor (1961) 189 Cal.App.2d 490 64	<u>People v. Sanchez</u> (1997) 58 Cal.App.4th 1435 47
People v. Southack (1952) 39 Cal.2d 578	<u>People v. Sanford</u> (2017) 11 Cal.App.5th 84 37
People v. Stankewitz (1990) 51 Cal.3d 72	<u>People v. Soriano</u> (2021) 65 Cal.App.5th 278 37, 44
People v. Superior Court (Lara) (2018) 4 Cal.5th 299 27 People v. Swain (1996) 12 Cal.4th 593 85 People v. Taylor (1961) 189 Cal.App.2d 490	
<u>People v. Swain</u> (1996) 12 Cal.4th 593	
People v. Taylor (1961) 189 Cal.App.2d 490 64	
<u>People v. Thomas</u> (1953) 41 Cal.2d 470	
	<u>People v. Thomas</u> (1953) 41 Cal.2d 470

People v. Tseng (2018) 30 Cal.App.5th 117	6
People v. Vanegas (2004) 115 Cal.App.4th 592 30	0
People v. Velazquez (2011) 201 Cal.App.4th 219 34	4
People v. Vivar (2021) 11 Cal.5th 510 28	8
People v. Wells (1996) 12 Cal.4th 979	1
People v. Whisenhunt (2008) 44 Cal.4th 174 50	0
People v. Williams (2020) 57 Cal.App.5th 652 27	7
People v. Woods (1991) 226 Cal.App.3d 1037 76	6
People v. Woodward (1873) 45 Cal. 293 80	0
People v. Yates (1925) 71 Cal.App. 788 80	0
<u>Richmond v. Lewis</u> (1992) 506 U.S. 40	9
<u>Roper v. Simmons</u> (2005) 543 U.S. 551	1
Santamaria v. Horsley (9th Cir. 1998) 133 F.3d 1242 47	7
State v. Stewart (Mo. App. 1976) 542 S.W.2d 533 54, 58	5
United States v. Garcia (9th Cir. 1998) 151 F.3d 1243 42	2
United States v. Penagos (9th Cir. 1987) 823 F.2d 346 82	2
United States v. Peterson (D.C.Cir. 1973) 483 F.2d 1222 42	2
Zemek v. Superior Court (2020) 44 Cal.App.5th 535 50	0

Statutes

Pen. Code, § 186.22	
Pen. Code, § 187	
Pen. Code, § 188	
Pen. Code, § 1170.95	
Pen. Code, § 1473.7	
Pen. Code, § 12022.53	
Stats. 2018, ch. 1015 (S.B. 1437),	

Constitutional Provisions

U.S.	Const.,	14th Amend	8	89
------	---------	------------	---	----

Rules

Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.5201	0
----------------------------------	---

Other Authorities

CALCRIM No. 401	
CALCRIM No. 520	
Dripps, Fundamental Retribution Error: Criminal Justic	ce and
the Social Psychology of Blame (2003) 56 Vanderbilt L	.R. 1383

ISSUES PRESENTED

This Court has specified the issues as follows:

1. Does substantial evidence support the conclusion that petitioner acted with implied malice?

2. Does substantial evidence support the conclusion that petitioner's actions constituted murder or aided and abetted murder?

(Order filed October 29, 2021.) (See Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.520(b)(2)(A).)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I.

Procedural history

A. <u>Underlying criminal conviction</u>.

Defendant and appellant Andres Reyes and four codefendants were charged by information with two counts arising out of a single incident in 2004, when Reyes was 15 years old. The two counts, with the special allegations applicable to Reyes, were:

> COUNT 1: Murder (Pen. Code, § 187, with a gang enhancement (Pen. Code, § 186.22, subd. (b)) and an enhancement for discharge of a firearm by a gang principal causing death (Pen. Code, § 12022.53, subd. (d), (e)); and

COUNT 2: Participation in a criminal street gang (then known as street terrorism) (Pen. Code, § 186.22, subd. (a)).

(CT (1) 65-67, as amended at CT (1) 25-26.) Reyes's case was severed for a separate jury trial. (Exh. (1) 52.)¹

When the jurors were unable to agree on the degree of murder, the court granted the People's motion to dismiss that charge. (CT (1) 43-44; Exh. (3) 596-600.) The jury thereupon

¹ "CT" and "RT" refer to the transcripts of the petition evidentiary hearing in 2019, the basis of the direct appeal. "Exh." refers to People's exhibit 1 in the evidentiary hearing, consisting of the three-volume RT of the original trial in 2006. (See CT (1) 62; RT 123:12-127:26.) All trial exhibits were received and cited by the original exhibit number. (RT 188:18-190:8.) found Reyes guilty of second-degree murder, with true findings on the gang and gang-principal firearm enhancements, and guilty of participation in a criminal street gang (count 2). (CT (1) 44, 69-72.)

On count 1 for second-degree murder the court sentenced Reyes to 15 years to life, with a consecutive term of 25 years to life for the gang-principal firearm enhancement, and a stayed term for the gang enhancement. (CT (1) 47, 98.) On count 2 for participation in a criminal street gang the court imposed a concurrent term of the middle term of two years. (CT (1) 47, 100.) The trial court emphasized its reluctance to impose the mandatory sentence:

I really wanted to try to do something for you, if I could. I looked at the law with respect to referring you out to the Youth Authority for an amenability report. But the law does not provide for any sentence other than what I'm about to impose. [¶] And the reason I wanted to try and do something for you is because you sit here 17 years old. You're only 5'6" tall, and weigh 110 pounds. And you're here for any number of reasons, some of which boil down to the fact that when we're 15 years old we make stupid decisions and dumb mistakes.

(Exh. (3) 613.)

The Court of Appeal (Fourth District, Division Three) affirmed the judgment in an unpublished opinion in 2007. (CT (1) 49, 245-249.) (See <u>People v. Reyes</u> (August 21, 2007, No. G037395) [nonpub. opn.] 2007 WL 2372617.) The opinion did not address the sufficiency of evidence.

B. <u>This appeal from the superior court's denial of Reyes's Penal</u> <u>Code section 1170.95 petition for resentencing.</u>

In 2019 Reyes, acting pro se, petitioned the superior court to vacate the murder conviction based on recent amendments to the murder statutes, which were retroactive pursuant to the petition procedure set forth in Penal Code section 1170.95. (CT (1) 102.) (See Stats. 2018, ch. 1015 (S.B. 1437), amending Pen. Code, § 188 and adding Pen. Code, § 1170.95.) That court appointed the Orange County Alternate Defender to represent him. (CT (1) 50.) (In this brief, superior court refers to the court that conducted the section 1170.95 hearing.)

The court found a prima facie case and proceeded to conduct an evidentiary hearing. (CT (1) 56, (See Pen. Code, § 1170.95, subds. (c), (d)(3).) The People relied on the three-volume reporter's transcript of the 2006 trial (People's exhibit 1). (CT (1) 62; RT 123:12-127:26.) The defense presented live testimony by a developmental psychologist and by Reyes himself. (CT (1) 62.) (Reyes had not testified in the jury trial.) The court also considered the 2007 Court of Appeal opinion affirming the judgment (reproduced at CT (1) 245-249), the trial court docket containing the jury instructions, and the pro se petition, including Reyes's declaration (CT (1) 103-109, 132). (RT 123:2-7; 127:15-26; 227:15-19.)

The court did not rely on any firsthand knowledge of evidence in the underlying trial. It had not presided over Reyes's trial, which had been severed from the trial of the codefendants. (See exh. (3) 52.) It did preside over the joint trial of the actual killer, Francisco (Frank) Lopez, and another defendant, but had only "a vague memory" of the evidence in that case and "no independent recall from that trial of the defendant's activity." (RT 124:10-17.)

The court denied the petition, finding that there was "a valid theory of murder of the second degree," namely, implied malice. (CT (1) 64; RT 297:12-299:2.) The Court of Appeal affirmed the order denying the petition. (People v. Reyes (August 4, 2021, No. G059251) [nonpub. opn.] 2021 WL 3394935.) This Court granted Reyes's pro se petition for review, limiting the issues as specified above.

Statement of facts

II.

The superior court found that although appellant Reyes was not the actual killer, he was guilty of second-degree murder based on implied malice. (RT 297:12-299:2.) The following facts are either undisputed or viewed in the light most favorable to this finding, except where specifically noted.

A. The charged murder committed by gang member Frank Lopez.

Fifteen-year-old Andres (Andy) Reyes was an active member of F-Troop, a criminal street gang in Santa Ana. (Exh. (1) 206; (2) 387, 410-414, 435; RT 194:10-20.) He was "not part of the high echelons of F-Troop." (Exh. (2) 456.)

On the afternoon of August 10, 2004, Reyes was playing handball at El Salvador Park, which was in F-Troop's territory. (Exh. (2) 323, 357, 408-409, 450-451; RT 186:25-188:9; see exhibit 1 (map).) Twenty-year-old Frank Lopez, another member of F-Troop, who would later be identified as the actual gunman, was also there, along with Michael C. (an associate of F-Troop), Michael C.'s brother, and Severo D. (a 16-year-old member of an allied gang, who happened to be doing community service at the park that afternoon). (Exh. (2) 323-325, 357-359, 379-381, 389-390, 436; RT 198:6-14; 214:21-26; exhibit 18.) Some of them were also playing handball. (Exh. (2) 323, 357.)

Sometime that afternoon, Frank Lopez showed off a revolver in the presence of Reyes, Severo, and Michael C. and his brother. (Exh. (2) 357-358; RT 187:15-25.) There was no

discussion about what Lopez was going to do with the gun, if anything. (Exh. (2) 367-368.) There was no evidence that anyone else had a gun. (See exh. (2) 367.) Reyes resumed his handball game and continued to play for at least two more hours. (RT 187:21-188:12.)²

Around 5 p.m., Reyes, Lopez, and Severo left the park on bicycles. (Exh. (2) 359-360; RT 188:10-12 (Reyes specifies the time).) Michael C., who remained at the park with his brother, did not tell the detective where the group was headed or whether they had any discussion about what they were going to do. (Exh. (2) 369.) Reyes, however, testified that they headed south to Monte Vista St., to visit two friends who were members of the West F-Troop clique. (RT 188:13-16; 192:14-193:5.) This street, which was about two blocks south of the site of the shooting, was in the territory of the West F-Troop clique or faction. (RT 190:10-191:12; 193:4-5; see also exh. (2) 406-407, 51-452.)

Reyes testified that after spending 30 to 45 minutes with the West F-Troop friends, Reyes, Lopez, and Severo got back on

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