No. S270723

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

ANDRES QUINONEZ REYES,

Defendant and Appellant.

Fourth Appellate District, Division Three, Case No. G059251 Orange County Superior Court, Case No. 04CF2780 The Honorable Richard M. King, Judge

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

Cal.4th 86, 106 (*Brown*) ["Resolution of conflicts and inconsistencies in the testimony is the exclusive province of the trier of fact."].)

E. Reyes's remaining challenges to the sufficiency of the evidence establishing implied malice are without merit

Reves contends his conduct after the murder is not, as a matter of law, probative of his mental state at the time of the murder. (See AOBM 51–52.) He is mistaken. Courts, including this one (see *Cravens*, *supra*, 53 Cal.4th at p. 511), have acknowledged that a defendant's conduct after a homicide can be relevant and properly considered on the question of implied malice where that subsequent behavior indicates "'a heartless and callous indifference'" toward the victim, because such a showing bolsters the inference that the defendant consciously disregarded the danger his actions posed to the victim's life. "In determining whether defendant's acts disclosed an abandoned and malignant heart, thus establishing implied malice, the jury was entitled [] to consider defendant's conduct following the fatal injury." (People v. Ogg (1958) 159 Cal.App.2d 38, 51 [evidence of implied malice included failure to seek medical aid even though defendant "knew that his wife was seriously injured"]; see also People v. McCartney (1963) 222 Cal.App.2d 461, 469 [evidence of implied malice included defendant's statement that she was glad she shot victim, and her failure to make any effort to render medical aid]; *People v. Burden* (1977) 72 Cal.App.3d 603, 620 [evidence of implied malice included defendant's statement after his child's death that he did nothing about the child's "deplorable state [of 'terminal starvation'], though he could have if he 'had really wanted to,' because he 'just didn't care' "].)

Reves also insists that the record is insufficient because of the "absence of any actual evidence as to what else the gang had in mind" when they left the friend's house to return to the park by way of the contested territory. (AOBM 36, 57–60.) But this Court has already held that, "in the gang context, it [is] not necessary for there to have been a prior discussion of or agreement to a shooting" (Medina, supra, 46 Cal.4th at p. 924.) And as noted above, "[e]vidence of a defendant's state of mind is almost inevitably circumstantial[,]" so direct evidence showing the gang discussed or otherwise announced their intentions to one another is not necessary. (Bloom, supra, 48) Cal.3d at p. 1208; see *People v. Miranda* (2011) 192 Cal.App.4th 398, 411–412 [when determining whether substantial evidence supports a finding that a particular crime was committed for a specified purpose, courts "routinely draw inferences about intent from the predictable results of action." Recognizing that courts "cannot look into people's minds directly to see their purposes[,]" they must instead "discover mental state only from how people act and what they say."].) Further, this Court has held that when assessing substantial evidence, a court "err[s] in focusing on evidence that did not exist rather than on the evidence that did exist." (People v. Story (2009) 45 Cal.4th 1282, 1299.)

In a similar vein, Reyes argues there is no evidence demonstrating his awareness that any of his acts were sufficiently dangerous so as to threaten human life. (AOBM 36–

45.) That argument is unpersuasive. The law does not require proof the defendant knew definitively that someone would be killed. (Knoller, supra, 41 Cal.4th at p. 157.) "[I]mplied malice requires a defendant's awareness of engaging in conduct that endangers the life of another—no more, and no less." (*Id.* at p. 143.) Viewed through the gang context established by the evidence, Reyes was at least aware that travelling to contested or rival territory with at least five fellow active gang members—one of whom was armed with a loaded firearm—was conduct that was likely to endanger the life of another. Reyes was aware of F-Troop's violent history, and that awareness further and properly supported the finding that Reyes knew his conduct was dangerous. Given the "great potential for escalating violence during gang confrontations," the People were not required to prove Reyes knew of "the precise consequences" that unfolded (People v. Montes (1999) 74 Cal.App.4th 1050, 1056), but instead had to prove he knew that his conduct endangered human life yet disregarded the risks. The People met their burden, and the superior court's finding on this element is supported by substantial evidence.

Citing the testimony provided by Dr. Cauffman, Reyes argues his youth negates the evidence showing he consciously disregarded the danger posed by his actions. (AOBM 69–75.) Respondent does not dispute that a defendant's youth is a relevant factor in determining whether he or she acted with conscious disregard to human life. (Cf. *People v. Ramirez* (2021) 71 Cal.App.5th 970, 784 (Ramirez), citing *In re Moore* (2021) 68

Cal.App.5th 434, 454 (Moore) [finding such evidence relevant to a court's analysis of whether the defendant acted with reckless indifference for purposes of § 189, subd. (e)].) But here, the superior court heard and expressly considered Dr. Cauffman's testimony (RT 128–182, 227), and as the fact finder, it had sole province to assign the testimony whatever weight it thought was warranted. (Brown, supra, 59 Cal.4th at p. 106 [trier of fact has exclusive province to determine appropriate weight to assign evidence].) In addition, the trier of fact generally may reject even uncontradicted testimony, whether by lay or expert witnesses, so long as the rejection is not arbitrary. (Howard v. Owens Corning) (1999) 72 Cal.App.4th 621, 632.) To the extent Dr. Cauffman's testimony conflicted with the evidence showing Reyes acted with conscious disregard for human life, the superior court resolved that conflict against Reves, and its resolution is binding for purposes of appellate review.

In support of his argument that his youth undermines the substantial evidence of his guilt, Reyes places special reliance on *Ramirez, supra*, 71 Cal.App.5th at p. $975.^{5}$ (AOBM (69-70.) But

⁵ In addition to *Ramirez*, Reyes cites several additional cases that also involved evidence of youth and its relevance regarding the defendants' intent. (AOBM 69–71.) These cases, including *Ramirez*, involved the "reckless indifference" standard now applicable to *first degree* murder convictions premised on a felony-murder theory, not the *second degree* murder implied malice theory at issue here. (*Ibid.*, citing *Ramirez*, *supra*, 71 Cal.App.5th at p. 975, *Moore*, *supra*, 68 Cal.App.5th 434, and *People v. Harris* (2021) 60 Cal.App.5th 939, 959–961.) While the two standards are similar and youth may be relevant to both, (continued...)

the circumstances here are readily distinguishable and demonstrate Reyes's higher degree of culpability than that of the defendant in *Ramirez*. The defendant in *Ramirez* was convicted of first degree murder based on a theory of felony murder with a carjacking of two non-gang members in gang territory as the underlying felony. In contrast to this case, the evidence showed the defendant was reluctant to participate in the underlying felony and only agreed to aid his co-participants because he feared being killed by his gang if he failed to do so. (*Ramirez*, at p. 979.) The evidence also supported a finding that the defendant had reason to expect that violence during the carjacking was unlikely, and he abandoned the shooter after the shooter "'[went] crazy'" and fired several shots at the victim. (Id. at pp. 988–990.) Here, however, Reyes's gang background and knowledge of F-Troop's pattern of criminal activities put him on notice that violence was likely, particularly where the targeted victim was associated with a rival gang. Reyes's actions following the murder demonstrate he was neither surprised nor frightened by the violence, and instead of disassociating from Lopez, Reyes fled with his gang, took Lopez's gun, and later mirrored Lopez's

^{(...}continued)

they are not identical, and the law is not yet clear that substantial evidence of one would necessarily suffice to meet the other. (See e.g., *People v. Johnson* (2016) 243 Cal.App.4th 1247, 1285 [rejecting the defendant's comparison of "reckless indifference to human life" to "conscious disregard for human life," and finding the former requires subjective awareness of a higher degree of risk of death than the latter].)

conduct when he assaulted F.N. with the very same gun. Reyes's actions before, during, and after the murder firmly establish his conscious disregard for human life.

Finally, Reves cites to additional cases where the defendants were convicted of implied malice murder and argues that courts have required a greater showing of the requisite mental component. (AOBM 75–77.) But as this Court has explained, " 'When we decide issues of sufficiency of evidence, comparison with other cases is of limited utility, since each case necessarily depends on its own facts." (People v. Casares (2016) 62 Cal.4th 808, 828, citing People v. Thomas (1992) 2 Cal.4th 489, 516.) The particular circumstances of this case demonstrate Reyes had the requisite mental state for implied malice. The evidence shows that Reyes was aware that a half-dozen F-Troop gang members one armed with a loaded .357 Magnum—riding into contested gang territory, creating a disturbance, and pursuing and confronting a rival gang member was dangerous to human life. Reves consciously disregarded that danger by actively participating in the events leading up to the murder. Reyes's implied malice was further demonstrated by the facts that after Lopez shot Rosario in the head, Reyes and the others left him to die, and Reyes went on to use the same handgun to assault a second victim less than an hour after Rosario's murder.

In sum, substantial evidence establishes both the objective and subjective components of implied malice murder. Accordingly, the superior court's finding that Reyes was guilty of murder based on a theory of implied malice should be affirmed.

II. SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE CONCLUSION THAT REYES IS GUILTY OF MURDER AS AN AIDER AND ABETTOR

In response to the second issue presented, Reyes argues that the evidence was insufficient to establish his guilt under any theory of direct or vicarious liability. (AOBM 78-89.) With regard to aiding and abetting liability, he argues the evidence was insufficient to establish implied malice for three reasons. First, he incorporates his earlier claim that there was insufficient evidence of his own implied malice. (AOBM 88.) Second, he claims there was no evidence that he shared Lopez's intent to shoot at Rosario's car. (AOBM 89.) Finally, he claims that he did nothing to help Lopez commit the shooting. (AOBM 89.)

His first claim fails for the same reasons discussed above. His remaining claims are unconvincing because the objectively dangerous act that Lopez committed was carrying out an armed gang confrontation in contested territory. The record shows Reyes shared Lopez's intent to commit this life-endangering act, Reyes had knowledge of, and conscious disregard for, the danger to human life it posed, and he aided Lopez before, during, and after the deadly confrontation. Accordingly, substantial evidence also supports a finding that Reyes was guilty of implied malice murder as an aider and abettor.

A. The elements of aiding and abetting implied malice murder

To convict someone of a crime as a direct aider and abettor, the prosecution must show "a crime committed by the direct perpetrator," the aider and abettor's "knowledge of the direct perpetrator's unlawful intent and an intent to assist in achieving

those unlawful ends," and "conduct by the aider and abettor that in fact assists the achievement of the crime." (People v. Perez (2005) 35 Cal.4th 1219, 1225, citing People v. McCoy (2001) 25 Cal.4th 1111, 1117; see CALCRIM No. 401 [defining direct aiding and abetting].) Where the definition of the offense "includes the intent to do some act or achieve some consequence beyond the actus reus of the crime [citation], the aider and abettor must share the specific intent of the perpetrator." (People v. Beeman (1984) 35 Cal.3d 547, 560.) "Whether a person has aided and abetted in the commission of a crime ordinarily is a question of fact. . . . $[\P]$. . . $[\P]$ Among the factors which may be considered in making the determination of aiding and abetting are: presence at the scene of the crime, companionship, and conduct before and after the offense.' [Citation.]" (People v. Nguyen (2015) 61 Cal.4th 1015, 1054.) In addition, in this context " 'flight is one of the factors which is relevant in determining consciousness of guilt." (In re Gary F. (2014) 226 Cal.App.4th 1076, 1080.)

Unlike express malice murder, murder committed with implied malice is not a specific intent crime. (§ 188; *People v. Smith* (2005) 37 Cal.4th 733, 739.) Because of this, to be guilty of implied malice murder as a direct aider and abettor, the aider need not intend death, but only the commission of an act naturally dangerous to human life. (See *Beeman, supra*, 35 Cal.3d at p. 560 [requirement of shared intent applies where the offense, as defined, "includes the intent to *do some act* or achieve some consequence beyond the *actus reus* of the crime"], first italics added.)

Accordingly, a person is guilty of implied malice murder as a direct aider and abettor if he or she (1) by words or conduct intentionally aids, facilitates, or encourages the perpetrator in committing an act naturally dangerous to human life, (2) with knowledge of the perpetrator's intent to commit the act, and with knowledge of and conscious disregard for the danger to human life it poses, and (3) the act proximately causes another person's death. (Gentile, supra, 10 Cal.5th at p. 850 ["an aider and abettor who does not expressly intend to aid a killing can still be convicted of second degree murder if the person knows that his or her conduct endangers the life of another and acts with conscious disregard for life"]; see, e.g., Chun, supra, 45 Cal.4th at p. 1205 [finding erroneous felony murder instruction harmless where the court also instructed the jury on implied malice murder, and "[n]o juror could have found that defendant participated in this shooting, either as a shooter or as an aider and abettor, without also finding that defendant committed an act that is dangerous to life and did so knowing of the danger and with conscious disregard for life—which is a valid theory of malice"], italics added; People v. Powell (2021) 63 Cal.App.5th 689, 713, [discussing the actus rea and mens rea required for aiding and abetting an implied malice murder]; People v. Superior Court of San Diego County (Valenzuela) (2021) 73 Cal.App.5th 485, 501-502 (Valenzuela) [same].)

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